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Brinny. From 1833 till his death he was also Preb. of 
Currograngemore, Ross. 

He married three times. By his first wife1. a Miss Roberts, 
of Charleville, he had one son, Robert Francis, who was a lieut. 
in the 49th and in the IIth R egts., and died circa 1864. His 
second wife was Mary, dau. of the Revd. Thomas Gibbings, 
Treasurer of Cloyne; and his third wife, who survived him, was 
Elizaibeth, eldest dau. of George Culloden Frend, of Rutha, Co. 
Lim~rick, and R osetta, Co,rk. Mr. Burro~ves died suddenly on 
the 20th September, 1861. 

On the death of Richard Graves Meredyth, R. Knockavilly, 
which occurred on the 22nd of April, 1871, that parish was 
joined to Brinny. 

James Stevenson, born at Mountrath, Queen's County, on 
20 Dec., 1827, was son of the Rev. William Stevenson, Rector 
of Kilclonbrock, dio. Leighlin. 

He was a scholar of T.CD. in 1847; grad. B.A. in 1849; 
M.A. 1861. H e was ordained Deacon 29th August, 1852; 
and Priest, 19th Dec., 1853, both at Cork. H e was Curate of 
Bruhenny, or Churchtown, eloyne, from 1852 to 1860; and 
Curate of Mogeesha from 1860 to 1861. 

H e married Mary Jane,dau. 0'£ J. T. Homibrook, ofRockfort, 
Brinny, but left no issue. 

Rev. J. Stevenson resigned in 1883, and resided in Bandon, 
where he died on the 17th of March, 1898, in his 71st year, 
and was buried at Brinny. 

!883. ROBERT FORSYTH CLARKE, R. Brinny, vice Stevenson. 
11he church population of the union is about 240. 
Brinny Church, which was an unsightly structure, has been 

entirely rerrrodelled under the present Incumbent. A tower 
has been built; the church handsomely re-seated; the chancel 
laid with encaustic tiling; stained glass windows put in. In 
sh.ort, the internal fittings are all entirely new. 

Divine Service is held on Sundays and chief festivals at 
12 noon and 6. 

The union is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is 
£134, and stipend of Rector, £250. 

The present Incumbent holds a " good service" pension. 
The Parochial School, under the mlanagement of the R ector, 

has 25 children on roll. Amongst the parochial organizations 
are-Branch of Young Women's Christia!IlJ Association, Prot. 
Orphan Society, various missions, etc. 

There is a fine Glebe House, with offices·, and nine acres of 
land, free of rent. 

'--
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Robert Forsyth Clarke entered T.eD in 1845; B.A. 1850; 
M.A. 1898. Ordained Deacon, December, 1850, and Priest 
1852; Asst. Chap. of St. Luke's, Cork, 1850-52; Curate St. 
Anne's Shandon, 1852-3 j Chap. St. Luke's, 1853-67; In­
cumbent of Frankfield, C01:'k, 1873-83. 

He married Annie, dau. of Geoll'ge Whately, of Cork, and 
has issue six daughters and !2ne son, John, B.A. T.C.D.; Div. 
T est.; prizes for elocution and extempore speaking. Ordained 
Deacon, in Ho.Iywood Church, Co. Do·wn, on 24th Sept., 1899, 
for the curacy of Gilford, Co. Down. H e became for a short 
time Curate ·of H olywood, Co. Down, but his health failin g, 
he had to give up work, and he died on the 7th October, 1902. 
at the early age of 26 years. 

CAHERAGH. 
[That is, "Stone Forts."] 

1853. Feb. 17. JAMES SOMERVILLE REEVES, A.B., R. Caheragh 
(Brady) . 

J ames Somerville R eeves was son of Thomas Somerville 
R eeves, of Vosterberg, Cork, by Rebecca, dau. of Isaac Morgan, 
of Cork. (For his family, see" Burke's Landed Gentry.") 

H e grad. B.A., T.C.D., in 1847; Div. Test. 1849; M.A. 
1804; B.D. and D.D. 1891. 

Ordained Deacon. 1849, and Priest 1850, at H ereford. 
Curate of Westbury, Salop, 1849-52; Curate at St. Margaret's , 
Westminster, in 1853. 

H e married, in 1866, Eliza Martha, dau. of the R evd. Jonas 
Travers Jones, of Droumbeg, Co. Cork, V. of Kilmacabea 
(Brady, II., 514 ; IlL, 206) , by whom he left a son and two 
daughters. 

During his incumbency he effected extensive improvements, 
reclaimjng and planting the glebe lands and building the glebe 
house, and other works, at an expenditure, largely personal, 
of about £1,800. 

H e resigned the parish of Caheragh, owing to ill health, in 
:May, 1890' H e died at Baltimore, Co. Cork, on the 8th of 
October, 1897, aged 73 years. 

1890. June 9. ARTHUR WILSON, B.A., R. Caheragh, vice R eeves. 
Wilson became R. St. Anne's Shandon. Cork, in April, 1897. 

1897. April 21. EDMUND W. BEATTY, B.D., R. Caheragh, vice 
Wilson. 

The church population of the parish is about 135. 
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Memorial stained glass window' and memorial tablets have 
been recently placed in Caheragh Church. 

Divine Service is held twice on Sundays and chief holydays. 
Holy Communion every Sunday. 

The parish is under diocesan scheme. 
The interest on private endowment, £8, anl the bequest of 

H . H . Newman, £10, go towards the assessment, which is 
£100, and the stipend 0'£ the Rector is £200. 

There is a small parochial school. 
Among the paromial organizations are---Branch of G. F . S., 

Bible Class, etc. 
The Glebe House, which is a good one, is situated near the 

church. It was built in 1877, at a cost of £1,800. 
There are ten acres of glebe land, given to the parish by 

the late Adam Newman, Esq., of Monkstown Castle, Co. Cork. 
By the exertions of the present Incumbent, the glebe is ren­
dered free of charge. 

Edmund William Beatty, b. at Oldcastle; Coo. Meath, 16th 
June, 1863, youngest son of the Revd. John Beatty, LL.D., 
R ector of Moynalty, Co. Meath; graduated in T.C.D. in 1885; 
Sen. Mod. and go~d medalist in Logics and Ethics; Div. T est. 
(1st class), 1887; Abp. King's Prizeman, ~886; B.D. Dec., 
1891. Ordained Deacon 10 July, 1887, and Priest 27 May, 
1888, at Cork, for the curacy of Abbeystrewry, Ross, which he 
held till 1892; Curate of St. Nicholas, Cork, 1892-96; Curate­
in-charge of Farahy, CIoyne, 1896-7. 

Married, 8th January, 1889, Susan Eva Meredith, elder 
dau. of the late Charles Clerke, of Skibbereen. Issue-Anne; 
Charles St. John, b. 14 Oct., 1893; Edmund Thomas Meredith. 

Beatty became R. Cork Beg, Cloyne, in May, 1901. Many 
improvemtents were made in Caheragh Church during his in­
cumbency. A carved oak pulpit was erected in memory of 
the Revd. James Somerville Reeves, by his ,'life and children; 
a brass lectern was dedicated, with the inscription, "To the 
glory 0'£ God, and in 10'Ving memory 0'£ Adam Newman, who 
entered into rest March 3rd, 1898, aged 90'; and to whom this 
parish is indebted for the site of this Omrch, erected A.D. 

1829." Also brass chancel rails, carved oak reredos, holy 
table; prayer desk, panelling, and white marble steps to chancel, 
with mosaic pavement. There is a silver paten, inscribed, 
"G. H ., Sterling, G. H."; and a silver ~alice, with Irish 
harp. . 

1901. May. ALFRED JAMZS WILLIAM WHITLEY, B.A., R. Caheragh, 
vice Beatty. 
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A. J. W. Whitley, eldest sim of Revd. John B. Whitley, Preb. 
of Templebryan, Ro-ss (q. v.) Educated at St. Faughnan's, 
Ross, and Midleton College; T.C.D., B.A., 1885; Div. Test. 
(2nd class), 1886. Ordained Deacon., 1886, for curacy of 
Naas, diD. Dublin, 1886-90; Curate Fermoy, 1890-91; Curate 
Murragh, at T emplemartin, 1891 to 1901. 

CANNAWAY. 

[It is, in Irish, "Ceann-a-Mhaigh.e" (pIOn. " Cannawee "), that is, 
H the head of the plain."] 

1840' November II. ROBERT WARREN, A.B., R. and V. Camlaway, 
(Brady). 

Robert Warren, elde:;t son of the Rev. Robert Warren, R. 
V. Kilmichael, and grandson of Sir Robert Warren, of Warrens­
court, was b. in 1794. He entered T.C.D. in July, 1812; 
B.A. 1816. Was ordained Deacon 3rd May, 1819, at COlk, 
and Priest 16 July, 1820, at Raphoe. He was Curate of 
Kilbarry, R aphoe, in 1820. 

He married, in 1824, Mary, second dau. of David Crawford, 
of Ballyslrannon, by whoml he had issue, inter alios--(I) Robert, 
J.P. , of Crookstown, Co. Cmk, d. 7 May, 1903, who> mi. Sophia, 
dau. of the late H enry Braddell, of Ma!llow, and has issue; 
(2) Richard, rrmjor-gen. R.E., retired, who twice married, and 
has issue; and (3) Augustus Charles James, who II!I. Isabella, 
dau. of the late William Clarke, of Farran. There were three 
other sorur-William, David, and Edward, deceased. 

Two daughters of Rev. Robert Warren survive (I) Sarah, m. 
to John Warren Payne, D.L., who assumed the name of 
Sheares, and has issue-Somers H enry, J.P. of Rookhurst, 
Monkstown, Co. Co;rk, and Mary H elen, wife of the Rev. 
William J. Wilson, M.A., Recto-r of. Templebrady (q. v.); and 
(2) Margaretta, m. to Capt. Edward Herrick, J.P., of Bell­
mount, Co. Cork, and had issue----4fue present John Edward 
Henry H errick, J.P., of that place, capt., retired, 3rd Royal 
Munster Fusiliers, who m. Emily Frances, dau. of James Low 
HolmJes, of Carrigmore, CO'. Co'rk. 

There were two' other daughters of Rev; Robt. Warren­
Emma and Mary, deceased. 

Rev. Robert Warren died on the 7th of May, 1879, in his 
85th year; and on his death the parish of Cannaway _ was, 
jnined to Moviddy (q. v.) , 
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CARRIGALINE. 
With part of Liscleary and Kilmoney. 

[The narpe signifies "the Rock of the O'Laighins," or "O'Linns," 
or "OILehanes.". 

In the "Taxation of Pope Nicholas" (1291), it is called 
"Ecc,lesia de Beannier," that is, "the Church of the Peaks," 
or " Pinnacles." This was coJ1l"Upted into " Beaverl " or 
"Beavor," a ' name given to· the parish in the old Ecclesiastical 
Records.] 

The present parish of Douglas was formerly part of the parish 
of Carrigaline, and its church was a cha,pel of ease to. that parish. 

Bishop Dive Do,wnes says (A.D. 1700), "This" (the remains of 
an old church at Douglas), "was, about 100 years ago, the church 
of Carickoline parish, before the new church was built where it now 
is, in the centre of ye parish." 
1855. Nov. 22 . JOHN WATKINS BENN, A.B., R. Carrigaline (Brady). 

John Watkins Benn, son of James Benn, was born in the 
County Antrim: in 1814. He entered T.C.D. in November, 
1833; obtained honours in Classics, Hebrewl and Divinity ; 
grad. B.A. in 1839. He was ordained Deacon in Sept., 1839, 
by Bp. of Kildare, and Priest in May, 1840, at Killaloe. He 
was Curate of St. Paul's, Portarlington, from September, 1839, to 
September, 1844, when he became Recto-r of same. 

Mr. Berm IDJarried, in 1853, Maria Louisa (who still sur­
vives), dau. of General C. H amilton, C.B., and the Hon. Sarah 
Hamilton, dau. of the second Lord Castlemain, and had issue 
six children, five sons and one daughtea-, who married a Dr. 
Kidd, at Blackheath. 

Rev. J. W. Benn resigned Carrigaline in 1872, and went to 
England. He died at Dorking on the 20th of October, 1874, 
in the 60th year of his age. 

On the death of John Busteed, Preb. and Vicar of Lisc1ery, 
in 1865, that parish was joined to' Carrigaline~ 

1872. Septembea- 4. SAMUEL 'HAYMAN, B.A., R. Carrigaline (with 
Douglas), vice Benn. 

1875. February 9. The chapelry of Douglas was constituted a 
separate parish, and the R ector of Carrigaline, S. HaYIDJan, 
went to Douglas (q. v.), and 
WILLIAM CLARKE WALKER, M.A. was appointed Rector of 
Carrigaline (q. v.) 

William Cdarke Walker was son of the: Rev. Thomas 
Walker, R. Kilmalooda. T.C.D. , B.A., 1834 ; M.A. 1857. 
Was nrdajned in 1835; was Curate of Glanbarrahan, Ross, in 
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1837; P. C. Fermoy, 1848-61; P. and ·V. Timoleague, Ross, 
1861-67; R. Ballinadee, and Treasurer of Cork, 1867-75. 

He married, on 7th July, 1863, Catherine, dau. of the Rev. 
Robert Halburd, P. Kilbrittain, and widow of W. Colburn. 

He resigned and retired in 1880; and he died on the 4th 
February, 1897, aged 88 years. 

1880. WILLIAM SPOTTSWOOD GREEN, :M.A., R. Carrigaline, vice 
Walker. 

W. S. Green, only son of Charles Green, J.P., of Youghal, 
who was only son of William Spottswood Green, of that place, 
by Rebecca, dau. of Roger Green, of same. T.CD., B.A. , 
and Div. T est., 1871; M.A. 1874. Was ordained Deacon, ' 
1872, and Priest, 1873, both at Cmk. Was Curate of K en­
mare, Co. K erry, 1874-77; Curate of Carrigaline, Cork, 
1877-80; R. of same, 1880. 

He married, on 22nd June, 1875, his cousin, Belinda Beatty, 
second dau. of James Butler, J.P. , of Waterville, COo. Kerry, 
by Anne Margaret, dau. of Roger Green Davis, J.P., of 
D romd iah, COo. Cork, and has issue a son, Charles, Sch. T.C.D., 
b . 23rd September, 1876; and five daughters. 

R ev. W. S. Green resigned Carrigaline in 1889, on being 
appointed a Government Commissioner of Irish Fisheries. He 
is now Chief Commissioner. 

1890' EDWARD GIBBINGS, M.A., R. Carrigaline, vice Green. 
Gibbings became R. Kinsale in 1895. 

1895. CHARLES EDWARD SCOTT, B.A., R . Carrigaline, vice Gibbings. 
The f01100wing have been . Curates :-1n 1863, W. Sherlock; 

1864, Charles Benson; 1865, Thomas Gloster; 1869, D. H. 
Powell; 1870, Alex. B. Waring; 1873, B. C. Fawcett; 1875, 
W. S. Green. 

The church population is about I7 5· 
Carrigaline Church, which was built near the old church, in 

1824, has been lately re-seated in pitch-pine ; new window 
opened in south side; ch.ancel panelled in oak; new Holy 
Table; and church deco!Tated, at a total cost of about £250. 

Divine. Service on Sundays and festivals at 12 noon, and 
Evening Service at 4.30, in licensed schoolhouse in the yillage. 
H oly Communion, first, third, and fifth Sundays. 

The parish is under diocesan sch.eme. The assessment is 
£100; the stipend of the Rector is £200. 

There is a parochial school under National Bo·ard, with 
average attendance of 20. 

A Glebe House, with offices, was built in 1876-7, at a cost 
of £1,670. 
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There is a charge to Board of Works of about £14 per 
annum. There are two acres of glebe landl at a rent of £4 
a year. 

On a stone outside the door of the vestry room of Carriga­
line Church is inscribed the following: - " This Church was 
rebuilt in the year of our Saviour Christ, 1723, The Revd. 
Mr. Boyle Davis, Regr. j Mr. Philip Gillman, Mr. Richard 
Dorman, Churchwardens." This Richard Dorman married, in 
1699, Catherine POlIter, and had issue, inter alios, (I) John, of 
Raffeen, who assumed the name of Porter, under the will of 
his cousin, Edward Porter, of Ballynaboy j (2) Edward, of 
Chetwynd; and (3) William, of Ballinrea, and Harbour Hill, 
Kinsale. 

Charles Edward Scott, b. at Aughnacloy, Co. Tyrone, 20th 
November, 1862. Educated at Bath College. T.C.D., B.A., 
1888; Div. Test. Ordained, Lent, 1890, for curacy of St. 
Luke's, Cork; Priest, Trin. , 1891. 

Married, 17th September, 1895, Kate Alice Smith, and has 
issue, Isabel Sydney. 

Scott became R. Rushbrooke in December, 1899' 
1900. January 25. SAMUEL HENRY PONSONBY HARMAN, R. Carriga­

line, vice Scott. 
S. H. P. Harman, b . at Fermoy, 29th May, 1869, eldest son 

of the Revd. Canon Samuel Thomas Harman, M.A., Rector of 
Rathcormac, Cloyne (q. v.) Educated at Monmouth Gra.rnnm,r 
SchoO'I; entered T.C.D. June, 1887; B.A. and Div. Test., 
1891; ordained Deacon, Trin., 1892, and Priest, 1893, at 
Rochester;. Curate O'f St. Mary Ma.gdalen, Berrnondsey, Lon~ 
don, 1892-94; Curate of Drumbeg, Co. Down, 1894-5; of St. 
Luke's, Cork, 1895 t oo January, 1900. 

Married An.gelina StopfolId, second dau. of the late Capt. 
Dominick Patrick Ronayne Sarsfield, M.A., J.P., D.L., of 
Doughcloyne, Co. Cork, and has issue, Samuel Thomas 
Sarsfield; Angela Mary Elizabeth. 

CARRIGROHANE. 

[In the" Taxation of Pope Nicholas" (1291), it is called, " Ecclesia 
de Carrigraffan," whence it may possibly mean "the rock of 
the engraving," OT "writing ?"] 

This union consists of the parishes of Carrigrohane (with 
Currikippane, Carigrohane beg (i. e., "Lesser Carrigrohane"), and. 
Ir.niskenny. 

3 
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The old parish of Currikippane (that is, "the marsh of the little 
sticks") has been long united to Carrigwhane. Of its ancient church 
only a gi!ble now stands. 

The glebe house and lands of the union were form.erly in that 
parish. When the land was sold by the R . C. B., a part of it was 
purchased by the Jews, and now is the Jewish Cemetery for th.e 
South of Ireland. 

Under the establishment, the rectory of Carrigrohane, associated 
with the rectories of Currikippane and Corbally, and one-fourth bf 
the rectory of Kinneigh, formed the corps of the Precentorship of 
Cork. 
~826. March II. HENRY T'HEOPHILUS MOORE HODDER, LL.D., 

Precentor (Brady). 
H e was second son of William H enry Moore, who assumed 

the additional surname of Hodder. B.A., T.C.D., he was 
ordained Deacon on 14th August, 1814, and Priest on 22nd 
December, 1816, both at Cork. In 1817 he was Curate of 
Ballinaboy ; in 1818 R. V. of Leighmoney' ; in 1823 Chancellor, 
and in 1826 Precentor of Cork. 

Dr. Hodder, who married a Miss Sanders, but left no issue, 
died on the 24th of November, 1864. 

1865. ROBERT SAMUEL GREGG, Precentor, per mortem Hodder. 
The parish of Carrigrohanebeg (which is in Cloyne diocese), 

was united to Carrigrohane on the resignation of William 
R eazon. Mangan, M.~., in 1873. 

(For Mangan, vide Killanully). 
Gregg became Dean of COI!k in 1873 (vide St. Fin Barre's). 

~873. FREDERICK DOBBIN, M.A., R. CalITigrohane, . vice Gregg. 
On the death of Thomas E. Evans, R. Inniskenny, in 1896, 

that parish \vas united to Carrigrohane. 
The church population of the union, exclusive' of military at 

Ballincollig, is about 220. There are two churches~ Carrig­
rohane and Inniskenny, at Waterfall. The latter was served 
by the Revd. R. H arvey, M.A., from. 1895 to 1900. The 
church of Carrigroihanebeg has been in ruins for 200 years. 

Carrigrohane Church has been much impro·ved in recent 
times. The chancel, west end, and tower and spire were 
erected in 1851 by the Revd. Dr. Hodder. The annexe to 
the body of the church was built under R evd. R. S. Gregg, 
after plans by Wml Burges, Esq., architect of St. Fin Barre's 
Cathedral, in 1866-7. A cut stone spire, replacing one of 
timber and slate, was erected by the present Incumbent, after 
plans by W. H. Hill, Esq., of Cork, in 1896-7. In 1901, a 
handsome marble dado was put up in the chancel, as a me-
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morial of ' the late Rector ()[ 'the parish; afterward-s ' Primate 
Gregg. It is in panels of Cork, Carrara, 'and Connemara 
marbles-red, white and green, with artistically carved pattern, 
and having the inscription-CC To the glory of God, and in 
loving memo-ry of the Most Revd. Robert S. Gregg, D.D. , 
sometime Rector of this parish j Bishop of Ossory ' and of 
'Cmk j Archbishop of Armagh, and Primate of all Ireland, 
~894-6." The chancel has also been paved with mosaic. 

Divine Service is held twice on each Lord's Day in Carrig­
Tohane Church, and once on chief 'festivals. In I=iskennv 
Church, once on Lord's, Day and on festivals. The latte'r 
-church has undergone oonsiderable alterations and improve­
ments lately. The chancel walls have bern pan,elled with red 
marble, with white plinth, encaustic tiling laid, and marble 

's teps, etc. 
The cost has been defrayed partly by grant from" Beresford 

Fund," but chiefly by Miss H awkes, of Castle White, as 
memorials. . 

The union is under diocesan scheme. There is a: partial 
,endowment of £25 a ,year, frorn interest on capital, and a 
·charge of £ 10 a year on property of the late Mrs. Moore 
'Hodder, of Parknamorej ' also a charge of £50 -a year on 
property of the late Mrs. White, of Castle White, to maintain 
-a service at Inniskenny. The assessment is £ 168, and stipend 
of rector, £300. 

The present Incumbent, who is an annuitant under the Irish 
'Church Act, receives a "good service" p=ion. 

There is a parochial school at BallincoUig, Carrigrohane, 
under Ch. Ed. Socy., with an a,vera.ge attendance of from 15 
to 20. 

Among the parochial organizations are :-Branches of the 
Church W o-rkers j Church Missionary Society j Temperance 
Society j Colonial and Continental Society j Protestant Orpban 
Society, besides various other auxiliaries for missions, home 
and foreign, edu~ation, etc. j also- clas:ses on week days for 
young men and young women. 

There is an excellent Glebe House, built under " Napier's 
Act," by the late Primate when Rector of the parish, with an 
addition thereto by the present Incumbent. 

There are 16a. 2r. 23P. of glebe land, the various charges 
on which amount to about £ 43 a year. 

Fred erick Dobbin, b. in Dublin on 1St D ecember, 1826, oon 
of William Dobbin, of DubEn, and Mary Anne, hi s wife. 
Educated at Royal School, Dungannon. T.C.D. j Exhibitioner 
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and Hono.z1oon in Classics j B.A., 1850 j Div. Test. (1st class) j 

M.A. 1871 j Member of Senate Dub. Univ. j Member of Gen. 
Synod, DiG>. Council, etc. Ordained by Archbishop Whateley, 
on letters dimissory from Bishop of Cork, in St. Patrick's. 
Cathedral, Dublin, in 1851. Was Curate of Ballymodan, 
Bandon, from 1851 t()l 1858 j Curate and Preacher of St. Fin 
Barre's Cathedral, 1858-66 j R ector of Glenbarrahan,. Ross, 
1866-73 j Canon of Cahirlag, in Cathedral of Cork, 1874 .; 
Chancellor of Cork, 1891. 

Mr. Dobbin married, on 12th of May, 1857, R ebecca, dau. 
of Francis Low, of Merrion Castle, Co. Dublin, and has issue 
a son, Francis William, M.D., b. 1866 j and a daughter, Mary 
Anne Rebecca, who was m. , on 16th April, 1903, to the R evd .. 
William Andrews Lamb, R. Kilmeen, Ross. 

Chancellor Dobbin is the autrux of various tractates on 
prophetical and other Scrip~ral subjects. 

He resigned, and retired, in June, 1902 j and a presentation 
of valuable plate was made to him by Carrigrohane parish on 
the occasion. 

He resided in Dublin and died there on the 25th of June, 
19°3· 

1902. July 9. EDWARD GIBBINGS, R. Carrigrohane, vice Dobbin. 
(For Gibbings, see Kinsale.) 

CULLEN. 

[Joyce gives the derivation of this name as "Holly." But Dr. 
Olden says: "Joyce is wrong. I know the place weIl, having 
been curate of the parish. It is pronounced by the country 
people, 'Killing,' which is 'Cill Fhlainn,' "the Church of 
Flann.''' According to Smith, too, it is "the Rectory of St. 
Flannan. "] 

Under the Establishment, Cullen was one of the parishes com­
prising the corps of the D eanery of Cork, and was a " Perpetual 
Curacy," under the patronage of the Dean. 

1860. August 23. THOMAS DORMAN, P. C. Cullen (Brady). 
Dorman became Preb. St. Michael's in 1886. 

1887. GEORGE. DEACON, P . C. Cullen, vice Dorman. 
Deacon became R. Killanully in 1872 j whereupon the 

parish of Cullen was united to Ballymartle (q. v.) 
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DESERTMORE. 

[That is, "the great Hermitage."] 

1859. August 23 . HENRY CONSTABLE, A.M., P. Desertmore (Brady). 
Henry Constable, son of Robert Constablet of Prior Park, 

Clonmel, Co. Tip. T.C.D., B.A., 1838; M.A. 1842. He was 
ordained Deaoon by Bishop of Down, iIll T.C.D. Chapel, in 
1839, and Priest by Abp. of Dublin, in 1840. From 1839 to 
1848 he was CUfaite of Kilgarriff, R oss; and from 1848 to 
1859 was Curate of Athnowen. 

Mr. Constable published various literary works, the most 
important of them being" The Nature and Duration of Future 
Punishment," which passed through many editions; " The 
Restitution of All Things"; "Hades, or the Intermediate 
State," and several essays. 

He resigned DesertrIllOre in 1872, and went to England, 
where he became chaplain to. the City of London Hospital, 
from 1873 to 1890' Hie died in 189-. 

On his resignation, in 1872, the parish of Desertmore was 
united to Athnmven (q. v.). Its church was taken down, and 
its glebe sold. 

DESERTSERGES. 
[That is, " Seargus', or Fergus', Hermitage."] 

1850. Oct. 16. JAMES GOLLOCK, A.B., V. Desertserges (Brady). 
James GoJlock, youngest son of James GoUock, of Forest, 

Co. Cork. T.C.D., B.A., 1822; M.A. 18-; was ordained 
D eacon in 1823, and Priest in 1824, at Cloyne; he was Curate 
of Aghinagh, Cloyne; Curate of Ballymodan, Bandon, in 1825 ; 
Curate of Inniscarra in 1827; R. V. Carrigrohanebeg, 1837-42 ; 
R. V. Brinny, 1842-5°. In the latter parish, as also in Desert­
serges, he built a fine glebe house. 

He married Wilhelmina Frederica, dau. of Major-General 
Elrington, of Low Hill, Worcestershiret sometime Governor 
of the Leeward Islands, West Indies, and had issue a son, who 
died young, and two daughters, Wilhelmina R ebecca, m. in 
1858 to the Revd. Richard Longfield, R. Mogeely (Cloyne) 
(q. v.), and Rebecca Anne Louise, m. in 1866 to the R evd. 
Bennet C. Davidson, Incumbent of St. John's, Sandymount, 
Co. Dublin. Rev. B. C. Davidson (who had assumed the 

------~""-' 
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name of Houston, in right of his wife's succession to a property 
in Co. Tyrone) died in August, 1899, 1eaving three sons and. 
four daughters surviving. 

Rev. James Gollock died at Desertserges) on 21st October,. 
1881, aged 81 years. 

This family of Gollock is descended from a Walloon family,. 
whose name originally was Gluck. This became softened into 
two syllables, on their migIation into France, because of the 
persecution of the Protestants in the Low Countries ' by the 
Duke of Alva, in the sixteenth century. They continued in 
France till again compelled to fiy from persecution on the 
revocation of tlw Edict of Nantes, in 1685, when they came 
to England; and the ancestolf of the present family joined 
the army of William IlL, and was present at the battle of the 
Boyne. They settled in Ireland, and acquired landed property 
early in the eighteenth century. This family has long resided 
at Forest, Co. Cork. . 

1881. WALTER LAMB, who had been Curate of the parish from 
1855, was apj)ointed R. Desertserges, per mortem Gollock. 

After the Disestablishment, parts of the lands of Cashel­
tnOlre, Moneens, Knocknagalough, and Dangan were taken from 
this parish and joined to Kilmalooda and Ballymvdan. 

The church population of the parish is about 220. 
There are two pJaces of worship in the parish, Desertserges 

Parish Church and Maulnatrogy Schoolhouse, licensed for 
Divine Worship. A new chancel was added to this chu.reh 
about the year 1865. . 

Divine Service is held on Sundays and chief festivals in the 
parish church at 12 noon. Haly Communion, first Sunday 
and festivals. In Maulnaro,gy Schoo,lhouse at 4 p.m., and H oly 
Communion on festivals. 

The parish is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is 
£134, and stipend of Rector, £250. 

There is a partial endowment of £ 500, presented by Judge 
Longfield. 

The parochial school is Desertserges National School, non­
vested (mixed), having more than 30 children on roll. 

Among the parochial organizations are Branches of G. F. S., 
Ch. of Ireland Temperance Association, etc. 

There is a substantial Glebe House, with offices, built in 
1852 by the Revd. James Gollock. There are 25 acres of 
glebe land. Rent, £34 a year. 

Walter Lamb, b. at Youghal in 1829, fourth son of the late 
William: Andrews Lamib, of Kilcoleman Park, Co. Cork, by his 

." 
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wife, Elizabeth, dau. of CQl. Walter .Atkin, Qf Leadington, CO'. 
Cork, widow 0'£ Capt. Hayman, R.N. Educated at the Devon­
shire Endowed SchooJ, BandQn. T.C.D., B.A., and Div. Test. 
(2nd class), 1851; M.A. 1857. Ordained Deacon 1853, and 
Priest 1854, both at Cork. Curate 0'£ prinagh, CQrk, 1853; 
of Tullagh, Ross, 1853-55; of Desertserg,es, 1855, till R. 0'£ 
same in 188!. 

He married, in 1857, Anne Kildahl Atkin, who died in 1865, 
and had issue, Eliza Hannah, whO' died in 1866. 

Mr. Lamb married, secondly, in 1870, Adeline Elizabeth, 
dau. of the late John Obins Woodhouse, of Omeath Park, 
Newry, Co. Louth, and had issue a son, William Andrews, 
nOlW R. KilrrreeI1l, Ross (q. v.); and three daughters.--Marie 
Burleigh Lethem!, m. 31 October, 1901, to Col. William Tomes 
Fairbrother, India Staff Corps; Ada Elizabeth Woodhouse; 
an<;'l Clara Gookin. 

Rev. Walter Lamb, having been clergyman of Desertserges 
as Curate and as Rector for 44 years, died there on the 24th 
of October, 1899. -

1899. November 23. GEORGE BERFORD FAIRBROTHER, M.A., 
R. Desertserges, per rrrortern Lamb. 

G. B. Fairbrother is the youngest son Qf the late George 
Berford Fairbrother, 9f Clonsilla Lodge, Clonsilla, COo. Dublin. 
H e was ordained, iI1l 1886, fnr the curacy of Castrachore 
(Midleton), Cloyne; Curate of Macroom, 1890-91 ; Diocesan 
Curate, Cork, Cloyne, and Ross, and Inspector of Schools, 
1891-99. 

He married, in 1891, Lilias Sarah, second daughter of the 
R evd. Precentor Moore, LL.D., Recto'f of Castrachore (Mid Ie­
ton), and has issue. 

DOUGLAS. 
[That is, "a dark stream."] 

The parish of Douglas was formerly a chapelry of Carrigaline 
(q. v.), and in 

1875, Feb. 9, it was constituted a separate parish, under the Revd. 
Samuel Hayman, who till then was R. Car.rigaline, with 
Douglas, and who thereupon removed to Douglas, and by his 
effo,rts the church of this district, which had been erected in 
1786, was almost entirely rebuilt! and was consecrated on the 
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27th of August, 1875, the cost of its erection exceeding £3,000, 
including pr~entations. 

In 1885-6, he extended the nave, at a cost of £600, and laid 
the foundations of the to'.ver, which was then raised to a height 
of 16 feet, at a cost of about £450. 

Samuel Hayman, b. at South Abbey, Youghal, on 27th 
July, 1818, eldest son of Matthew Hayman, of that place, by 
his wife (m, in 1816), H elen, third dau, of Arundel Hill, of 
Doneraile, OJ. Cork. 

This Matthew H ayman was a son of SaIIlJUel Hayman, M.D., 
by his wife (rru. in 1782), Melian, dau. and co"heiress of 
Matthew Jones, of Youghal. The said Samuel, M.D., was son 
of Rev. Atkin H aYmRn, V. of Ballyclough, Droumdowney, and 
Castle Magner (Brady, II., 29), by his wife (m. in 1742), Eliza­
beth, dau. of Rev. Walter Atkin, Treasurer of Cloyne j and 
Rev. Atkin Hayman was fifth son 0'£ SaIIlJUel H ayman, of The 
College, Y oughal, by Elizabeth" eldest dau. and co"heiress of 
Richard P aradise, a French Protestant refugee (vide " Burke's 
Landed Gentry," " Hayman, of Youghal "). 

Rev. Samuel Hayman, the subject of this notice, was sixth 
in descent from George H eyman, or H ayman, of Minehead, in 
Somersetshire, who came to Ireland in 1629, and settled at 
Youghal. 

Educated at Youghal, under the R ev. Thos. Nolan, and 
afterwards at Clomnel, by the Rev. R Bell, D.D., he entered 
T.C.D. in October, 1835, and graduated B.A. in July, 1839. 
H e was ordained Deacon 19th September, 1841, at Cork, and 
Priest, 14th August, 1842, at Killaloe. Was Curate of Glan­
worth, Cloyne, 1841-47 j of Rathcooney (Glanmire), Cork, 
1847-49 j of Youghal, 1849-63 j R. of Ardnageehy, 1863-67 j 
R TempI era an, with P. C. Doneraile, Cloyne, 1867-72; R 
Carrigaline, with Douglas, Cork, 1872-75 j Canon of Cork, 
1874. In 1875, the parishes of Carrigaline and DougJas were 
separated, and Canon H ayman resjgned the former, and re­
tained the latter. 

He married, on 26th September, 1854, at St. Anne's, Belfast, 
Emily, dau. of the R ev. Marcus Cassidy, Chancellor of Kil­
fenocr:a, and R ector of N ewtownards, Cb. Down, and had issue 
a daughter, Emily Henrietta Aline, who married, on 8th April, 
1889, Reginald Wallwyn-James, capt. RA., and has issue a 
son, Edward Wallwyn-James. Mrs. Emily Hayman survived 
her husband, and 'died in Cork in June, 1894. 

Canon Hayman had two brothers and five sisters. Of th.e 
former, Arundel Hill died young in 1836, and Matthew Jones 
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entered the army in 1841, serving in the 87th R oyal Irish 
Fusiliers in India, China, and the Russian campaign in 1855, 
where he greatly distinguished himself, and was severely 
wotmded at the storming of the Redan. He retired from 
active service in 1858, and left the army, with the rank of 
colonel, in 1881, and flied in Dublin in January, 1889, aged 
68 years. 

Col. H ayman married, in 1858, Mary Sarah, youngest dau. 
of Denis McCarthy, of Maxgrove, Co. Corkl and Anne, his 
wife, dau. of Richard Power, M.P., of Waterford, by whom 
he left iSSUe--(I) Matthew Henry H ayman, in holy orders, 
Vicar of Warton, Atherston, Warwickshire, who was b. 12th 
J3Jl1uary, 1860, and who married, in November, 1887, Annie 
Maxwell, dau. of John Skottowe, of Douglas, Isle of Man; (2) 
Richard Florence H ayman, b. 12 May, 1862, who married, 
15th June, 1891, Louisa, dau. of Lieut. Edward Buller Broyur, 
{)f Sot. H elliers, Jersey, late of H. M. Indian Navy. 

Canon Hayman died on the 15th December, 1886, and his 
remains were laid in Douglas churchyard, which by him was 
so beautifully arranged j and is now the resting place of so 
many of Cork's most distinguished sons. 

H e was an able writer, and the author of many valuable 
works, theological and historical, the fonowing being some OIf 
his publications :-" Annals of Youghal," 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th 
.series j "Ancient R eligious Foundations at Youghal "j "A Guide 
to Y oughal, Ardmore, and the Blackwater" j " Illustrated Guide 
to St. Mary's Church, Youghal" j "Memo,rials of Youghal," etc. 
The following are also from his pen-" Looking Upward"; 
"About Footsteps" j "Feeding the Flock of God" j " Papers 
from a Parsonage" j "Passages from a Commonplace Book " ; 
" Criteria," and others j besides numerous contributions to the 
Press on religious subjects. 

1887. January 4. GEORGE PRING QUICK, R. Douglas, per mortem 
H ayman. 

R evd. G. P. Quick immediately proceeded to carry on the 
work of completing the to,wer and spire of Douglas church, as a 
fitting memIOrial to his predecessor who began it, and this 
was finished in 1889, at an additional expenditure of '£1,635. 
Th.e bell, and the clock, each costing '£100, were presented 
by Miss Reeves, of Tramore, Douglas. 

The burial-ground surrounding Douglas Church is now de­
serving of particular notice, as it is one of the mo·st beautiful 
and well kept in the SOuth of Ireland. 

Divine Service is held in St. Luke's .Church,- D ouglas, on 
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Sundays and chief festivals at 11.3° and 6 in summer, and 4.30 
in winter. Holy COIIllIDlUnion, first and third Sundays, at noon 
service, and on last Sunday at 8.30 a.m.; chief festivals l at 
8,3° and II.30. 

The church population is about 286; Dissenters, 86. 
Tile parish is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is 

£168; stipend of Rector, £3°0. 'There is a small augmenta­
tion froro "Allen Bequest" of about £22 a year. 

The parochial school, the St. Luke's National School, having 
about 50 children on roll, is held in the lecture hall, which is 
vested in the Rector and churchwardens. 

Amongst the parochial organizations are-Branch of G. F. S. ; 
Bible Class; South American and other Missions; Band 
of Hope; Parochial Library, etc. 

There is an excellent Glebe House and offices, built in 1875 
by Revd. S. Hayman, at a cost of about £2,000. There are 
about four acres of glebe land, the rent of the whole being 
£12 a year, besides a charge to Board of Works of £55 a year_ 

George Pring Quick, b. at Crewkerne, Soroersetshire, 26th 
April, 1847, elder son of George England Quick, of Crewkerne, 
by his wife, Mary, dau. of John Pring, of Ashfield, Awliscombe,. 
Devonshire. Educated at Crewkerne School (founded 1499); 
Owsley Exhibitioner, 1866; entered St. Mary H all, Oxford, 
1866; Dyke scholar, 1866; B.A. 1870 ; M.A. and S.c.L. 1874. 

Ordained Deacon 1870, Worcester dio., and Priest 1871, at 
Cnrk. Curate of Oldbury, dio>. Wo-mester, 1870 ; Curate of 
Innishannon, Cock, 1871-74; of St. Paul, Dorking, 1874-5 ; 
British Chaplain at Santiago, Chili, 1876-78; and at Sao Paulo 
and Santos, Brazil, 1878-81; Curate of New Radford, Notting­
ham, 1882-3; Asst. Sec. C. P. A. S., 1883-4; Curate of Christ 
Church, Cork, 1884-5; R. of St. Peter's, Cork, 1885-87. 

Mr. Quick married, in 1884, Mary Frances Melian, only 
surviving child of Thos. Stawell Quin, of Firgrove, Innishannon, 
by his wife, Mary, dau. of R evd. Richard Longfield Conner, 
M.A., -of Downdaniel Castlel Innishannon, R. of St. Anne's 
Shandm1J, Cork, and by her, who died 13th Decerober, 
1891, has issue one son, Thomas Stawell Quin Pring" b. 28th 
November, 1891. 

A very fine organ, costing £800, has lately been dedicated 
by the Bishop in Douglas Church, presented by the parishioners 
as a meIIllOrial of Queen Victoria. On the front is a beautiful 
gravure of late ,Queen, around whioh is the inscription, "Vic­
toria Reg : Britt : Imp: Ind. A.D. 1837-1901." 
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. DRINAGH. 

[That is, "Blackthorn Bushes."] 

1861. August 16. WILLIAM MEYERS WOOLSEY, A.M., V. Drinagh 
(Brady). 

Woolsey became R. Co-rkbeg, Cloyne, in 1875. 
1875. ROBERT OLIVER NELSON ANDERSON, B.A., R. Drinagh, VIce 

- Woolsey. '" _ 
R. O. N. Anderson, T.eD., B.A., 1864. He was ordained 

Deacon in 1870, and Priest in 1872, both at Cork. He was 
Curate of Kilbrogan, Bandon, 1870-74; Curate of Tracton 
Abbey, 1874-75' 

An.derson had .to resign, owing to ill health, in 1890; and 
he died at Kingstown on Cillistmas Day in that year. 

1891. February. JOHN LEVINGSTON, B.A., R. Drinagh, vice Ander­
son. 

The old parish church, Christ Church, having become unfit 
for service, was taken down, with the exception of its tower, in 
1896; and a new Gothic church, a very elegant structure, after 
the design of W. H. Hill, Esq., c.E., was built on a new and 
mme convenient site, near the rectory and schools, at a cost 
of about £1,250. This work, much needed, and well done, 
was accomplished by the persevering exertion of Mr. Levingston. 
The new church was consecrated for the worship of God by the 
Rt. Revd. W. E. Meade, D.D., Bishop of the Diocese, on the 
28th of May, 1897; and since then the church has been 
handsomely fum-ished. 

Divine Service is held on Sundays and festivals at 12 noon 
and 5 p.rn. . Holy Communion, every Sunday and chief festivals. 

The church population of the parish is about 140. 
The parish is under diocesan scheme; The assessment is 

£134, and the stipend of Rector, £250. 
A paI'Ochial school, Shandrum, N. B., non-vested (mixed), 

·l;u).s about 50 chlldren on roll. This schoolhouse has been 
lately repaired, and additions made, costing about £45. 

Among the parochial organizations are-,-Branch of Church 
Temperance Association; Meetings for C. M S. and S. A. M. S.; 
Weekly Prayer Meetings during winter months, etc. 

A new Glebe House, which is an excellent one, was built in 
1876, at a cost of £1,450, of which £1,000 was collected by' 
the late Revd. Wm. M. Woolsey, and £450 borrowed from 
the Board of Works. There are 13a. 2r. 24p. of glebe land, 
at a rent of £31, besides rates and taxes. 

"-... 
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John Levingston, b. at Ballyshancarragh, Co. CarlOilv, 19th 
December, 1856, second son of the late Wm. Levingston, of 
Ballyshancarragh, by his wife, Phoebe, third dau. of the late 
John Scallion, of Coolakish Cottage, Co.' Carlo,w. Educated 
at the Ranelagh Institute, Athlone. Entered T.C.D. in 1880 ; 
B.A., Hiems., 1883; Div. Test. Was ordained Deacon, 
Christmas, 1883, and Priest, 1884, both at Cork. CUTate of 
Kilbrogan, Bandon, 1883-85; sole charge Curate of Temp~e­
martin (U. of Murragh), 1885-91. 

Married, in 1885, Agnes Alexandrina, eld. dau. of the 
late Thos. Clarke, 0'£ Ballyduff House, Ferns, by his wife, 
Rachel, third dau. of the late George Veitch, of Middleton, 
Stirlingshire. I ssue-William Veitcht who died 28th Nov., 
1900 ; Phoebe Elizabeth; Colville Learmouth ; Jessie ; John 
Learrnouth; Thomas Clarke. 

Levingston became R. Carrigtwolllll, Cloyne, in June, 1900. 
1900. 29 June. JOHN BERNARD WHITE, R. Drinagh, vice Levings­

ton. 
J. B. White, b. at Macroolll, Co'. Cork, 19th August, 1862, 

son of the late Nicholas Warburton White, M.D., of Macroom, 
by his wife, Elizabeth, dau. of Capt. James Morgan Cooke, of 
Lisheen, Bantry. Educated at Tipperary Grammar School; 
T.C.D., Exhibitioner and fi rst Prizeman; B.A. 1884; M.A. 
1887; Div. Test (2nd class). Ordained 1890 ; Curate of 
Kilmacabea, Ross, 1890 to 1900. 

Married, 26th January, 1896, Ethel Frances Mary, dau. of 
Brigade Surgeon T. W. B. P. Johnston, late of Summer Hill, 
Bandon, and has issue a son and daughter. 

White became R. Schull in October, 1902. 
1S/02. November 15. FREDERICK GIRLlNG, R . Drinagh, vice White. 

Instituted by the Lord Bishop on 27th. 
Frederick Girling, T .C.D., B.A., and Div. T est., was ordained 

by Bishop Robert Gregg, in 1892, and Priest in 1893. He 
was Curate of Nohoval, Cork, from 1892 to 1895 ; Curate of 
Droumdaleague from! 1895 to 1901; and Curate of Murragh, 
at Templemartin, frOm! 1901 to 1902. 

He is married, and has issue. 
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DROUMDALEAGUE. 

[T hat is, "the Ridge of the t wo Pillar Stones. " Anglicised, Drimo­
league. "] 

1855. Feb. 13. MOUNTIFORD LONGFIELD CONNER, A.B., P. Droum­
daleague (Brady) . 

He was son of Daniel COill1er, of Mancil, Co. Cork. 
T .C.D., B.A. Was Curate of Fanlobbus in 1848. He married 
Anna, who d. 14th January, 1901, eldest dau. of the Revd. 
Godfrey Smith, V. of Kiill1eigh (afterwards R . V. Aghabullogue, 
Cloyne), by his wife, Ellen, dau. of the Revd. John Garde, of 
Castlemartyr, Curate of Kil1eagJ1., but had no issue. 

His living was sequestered in 1860, and George Cornwall 
N ash, B.A., was appointed Curate-in-charge of the parish. 

G. C. Nash (Brady, III., 227) left in 1869' He died on 
the 6th of January, 1890, aged 77 years. Conner compounded 
and resigned in 1871 j and he died in Australia in 1880. 

1871. January. 'WILLIAM 'WALLER O'GRADY, R. Droumdaleague, 
vice COill1er. 

O'Grady became R. Kilmocomoge in ·1880. 
1880. JOHN STOKOE, R. Droumdaleague, vice O'Grady. 

John Stokoe was ordained in 1870. He was Curate of 
Lisnadill, Co. Armagh, 1870-72 j Incumbent of Diamond, in 
that county, 1872-3 j was Curate of St. Luke's, Cork, 1874-80. 
He resigned Droumdaleague in 1881, and became Dep. Sec. 
for C. M. S. for South of Ireland. He died in 1885. 

1881. June. STEPHEN MOXLEY, R. Droumdaleague, vice Stokoe. 
Stephen Moxley, T.C.D ., B.A., 1872 j LL.B. 1873 j LL.D. 

1882. Was ordained Deacon in 1872, at Kilmo~e, and Priest, 
in 1873, at Derry. He was Curate of Elphin Cathedral, 
1872-76 j and Rector of Ardnageehy, Cork, 1876-81. 

He resigned Droumdaleague in October, 1882, and went 
to the Collegiate School, QueenstmVD, where he died in 1890' 

1883. May. EDWIN SANDYS D ONOVAN, R. Droumdaleague, vice 
Moxley. 

Donovan became R. Timoleague, Ross, in 1887. 
1887. September. THOMAS WAKEHAM, A.B., R. Droumdaleague. 

vice Donovan. 
R. H arbord was Curate from September, 1889, to J une, 

1894, when he left the diocese fo~.an appointment in D ublin, 
and was succeeded by W. O. H arvey, who was succeeded by 
F. Girlin.g, in 1895, who became Curate of Murragh, at 
T emplemartin, in 1901. 

The church population of the parish is about 300. 
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The parish church, sitUated a little to the easrt; of the village 
of Drimoleague, is in good o·rder. It was built in 1858. 

Divine Service is h.eld on Sundays and festivals at 11.30 
and 5. Services are occasionally held in the schoolhouses, and 
in a parochial hall in the village. 

The parish is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is 
'£134, and stipend of Rector, '£250, subject to deduction of 
'£20 a year towards the salary of the Curate, which is '£12 0. 

The pr·esent Incumbent receives a "good service» pension. 
There are two parochial schools,_ under N. B., one at 

Meenies, about Ii miles from the village, having about 21 
children on roll; the other at Claddagp, about same distance 
from village, having 40 children. 

The Glebe House, situated a little to the south of the 
village, was built by Revd. W. W. O'Grady, on about ten acres 
of glebe land, at a rent of .£35 a year. 

Thomas Wakeham, b. at Youghal 17th February, 1819, 
second youngest and now only surviving child of the late Revd. 
Thos. Wakeham, for 35 years in dio. Cloyne (Brady, III., 261). 

H e entered T.C.D. in 1836; obtained a University Scholar­
ship in 1840; Sen. Mod. and gO'ld medal in Eth. and Log. in 
1841; 1st Div. Premium in 1842, and B.A. Ordained D ea.con 
at Midleton, 1847, and Priest, 1848. Curate Ballymodan, 
Bandon, 1847-51; Curate Kilworth, Cloyne, 1851-53; Curate 
Rathcooney, Cork, 1853-56; Curate Fanlobbus (Dunmanway), 
1856-67; Curate Kilbrogan, Bandon, 1867-72; R. Clonfert, 
Cloyne, 1872-87. 

He married, in December, 1859, Catherine E., fi fth dau. 
of the Revd. William Townsend, Rector of Aghada, Cloyne, 
and by her, who died 22nd April, 1892, had issue two 
daughters. 
Wakeham resigned in May, 1901, and retired. 

1901. May 29. JOHN CHARLES LORD, R. Droumdaleague, vice 
Wakeham 

John Charles Lord, b. at Crossdoney, Co. Cavan, 7th M-arch, 
1868, younger son of Charles Lord, of Crossdoney. Educated 
at Wesley College, Dublin. Entered T.C.D. in 1889; B.A. 
1892 ; Div. Test. 1893; M.A. 1898. Ordained Deacon, Trin., 
1892, and Priest 1895, both at Cork. Curate of Clonmel (or 
Queenstown), 1892 to 1901. 

Mr. Lord married, in January, 1899, Elizabeth Zena, eldest 
dau. of the late Horatio Hamilton Townsend, of Coosheen, 
Schull, Co. Cork, by his wife, Elizabeth, youngest dau. of 
Nathaniel Webb Ware, of Woodfort, Mallow. 
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DUNDERROW. 

'rThat is, " the Fortress of the Oak Plain." In the "Book of 
. - Leinster," a MS. of the twelfth century, it is called" Dun-der­

Maighi." The" dun " still exists, and is called " the Doon."] 

.1853. F ebruary 17. RICHARD FRANCIS WEBB, A.B., R. Dunderrow, 
on presentation (dated 3rd Feburary, 1853), of the trustees 
of the late John Cuthbert Kearney, Esq. (Brady). This was 
an exchange of parishes with James Somerville Reeves-, R. 
Caheragh. 

Richard F,rancis Webb was the eldest son of the Rev. Richard 
Webb, R. V. Ringrone (Brady), by his ID'arriag,e, in 1793, with 
Eliza, dau. of Francis Browne, of Kinsale. BO'm in 1794, he 
was Iilrdained Deacon on 20th April, 1817, and Priest 3rd May, 
1818, both at Cork. He was Curate of Ringrone in 1817; 
and R ector of Caheragh from 1818 to 1853, when he became 
R. Dunderww. 

He married, on 17th September, 1818, Mary, youngest dau. 
of the Revd. Samuel Beamish, V. Kinsale, by his wife, Mary, 
dau . of Joshua H amilton, by Mary, dau. of Sir Richard Cox, 
of Dunmanway, and had issue four sons--(I) Richard, who 
married Anna Townsend, dau. of Augustus, nephew of the 
late Sir Augustus Warren, of Warrenscourt, and had issue; 
(2) Samuel; (3) John; (4) H enry; and twO'daughters--Mary, 
married to! WilliamJ H. Lloyd; and Eliza, married to Thomas 
Green. 

Rev. R. F . Webb's younger brotherz the Rev. John BeavooI 
Webb, who was his predecessor in this parish/ and who 
mk1rried, on 5th Septem:ber, 1843, Maria, dau. of Robert 
Maxwell, of Charleville, had, by her, a son, John, and three 
daughters-Kathleen, Lilla, and Maria. 

Rev. Ricbard Francis Webb died on the 9th of December, 
1872, in bis 79th year; and on bis death the parish of Dun­
derrow was united to Kinsale (q.v.) 

The glebe house and lands were subsequently sold by 
R.c.B. 
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DURRUS AND KILCROHANE. 
(With Dunbeacon and Drishane.) 

[CORK. 

[Durrus means "a daxk wood " (or "promontory"). Kilcrohane, 
perhaps, "the Church of the Hut, " or "Hovel," meaning a 
very small church?] 

These parishes were united from time immemorial. 
1852. August 18. JAMES FREKE, A.B., V. Durrus and Kilcrooane 

(Brady). 
Freke became R. V. Mmragh in 1866. 

1866. JOHN PRATT~ M.A., V. Durrus and Kilcrohane, vice Freke. 
The church population is about 430. 
There are two churches-the parish church, picturesquely 

situated at the head of Dtmmanus Ba.y, and a small church 
at the north side of the parish, at Rooska, on the south side 
of Bantry Bay. This latter-was built in 1866. Dmrus parish 
church was enlarged by the addition of a side aisle in 1867, 
at a cost of £600, and a chancel built as a gift by the Countess 
of Bandon. 

Divine Service is held in the parish church twice on Sundays 
and chief festivals; and on alternate Sundays at Rooska in 
s UIllIille.r. 

There is a capital sum 0'£ £1,000, the interest of which 
goes towards the assessment, which is £134, stipend of Rector, 
£250 • 

The present Incumbent receives a "good service" pension. 
He contributes £40 a year to the curate's salary. 

There are three parochial sohools, viz., Glebe School, N. B.; 
R ooska, N.B.; and Mollough, eh. Ed. Socy. 

Among the parochial organizations are-Branches of Young 
Women's Christian Association, and Temperance Society, 
and a Weekly Men's Bible Class; and there are services and 
meetings for C. M. S., S. P. G. , Jews' Society, Prot. Orph. 
Socy., Ch. Ed. Socy., Hospitals, Dio. Board of Ed'l Island 
and Coast Socy., etc. 

There is an excellent Glebe House, prettily situated close 
to the church,. in 47 acres of glebe land. Rent and taxes 
amounting to about £74 a year. 

John Pratt, b. at Churchtown, Midleton, 22nd Oct., 1812, 
son of the Revd. Roht. Pratt, A.B., P. Desertmore (Brady), and 
grandson of the R evd. James Pratt, A.M. , P. Kilnaglory, and 
R. V. Athnowen (Brady), and great-grandson of Robt. Pratt, 
Portre1ve of Castlemartyr. 

(For this family, vide " Burke's Landed Gentry.") 
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T.CD., B.A., 1835 j M.A. 18e6. Ordained Deacon, 1840, 
at Killaloe, and Priest 1841, at Limerick. Curate of Kinneigh, 
1840-46 j of Kilbrogan, Bandon, 1846-56 j R. Killowen, 
1856-58 j R. Kilnagross, Ross. 1858-66 j Precentor of Cork, 
1855, and Rural Dean of Gleansanley: 

H e married, in 1841, Charlotte Louisa! dau. of Michael 
Murphy, of Newtown, Bantry, brother of Revd. John Murphy, 
A.B. , Treasurer of Cork, and R. Mogeesha, Cloyne (q. v.); 
and secondly, Eva, dau. of Francis Cole of Blair's Cove, 
Co. Cork. Her brother, the Revd. John Francis Cole, is the 
present Rector of Portarlington. 

Curate (ordained in 1898), J()Ihn N. Whitley, B.A. He be­
came Curate of Kinsale in 1902. 

Precentor Pratt died on 29th April, 1902, aged 90 years, 
and was buried in Durrus churchyard. He was very popular, 
and a memorial 0'£ him is being erected in Durrus Church. 

1902. May 28. GEORGE THOMAS LEVIS, R. Durrus and Kilcrohane, 
per mortem Pratt. 

Instituted, loth June, by the Lord BishOlp, in Durrus Church. 
George Thomas Levis, b. at Myross Cottage, Union HaU, 

Co. Cork, 17th May, 1866, fifth son of George S. Levis, of 
Kilbrogan Place, Bandon, by his wife, Martha, dau. of the 
late John Wood, of F amivane House, Bandon, and grandson 
of the late Samuel Levis! of Glenview House, Skibbereen, 
Co. Cork. 

Educated privately. Entered T.C.D. 1889 j B.A., June, 
1892 j Div. Test., June, 1893. Ordained Deacon, December, 
1892, and Priest, December, 1893, both at Cork. Curate of 
Macroom, 1892 to 1902. 

H e married, on 3rd September, 1902, Sara May, younger 
dau. of the Rev. John Quarry Conolly, M.A., Rector of 
Macroom. 

FANLOBBUS. 
[That is "Lobbus' (or Lupus') Slope."] 

The parishes of Fanlobbus ann Kinneigh were at one time 
united. Bishop Dive Downes says that "Contention about a seat 
gave occasion to the building of Kinneigh and Fanlobbish churches, 
and dividing the parishes." The same cause has occasioned many 
dissensions since. 
1855. June 27. WILLIAM ROBERT MOLESWORTH, A.M., V. Fan­

lobbus (Brady). 
W. R. Molesworth was the elder son of Major Bysse Cole 

4 



50 FANLOBBUS. [CORK. 

Molesworth, who was fourth son of Robert, the second son of 
Bysse, seventh son of the first Viscount Molesworth. 

He grad. B.A., T.C.D. , in 1829; M.A. 1832. He was 
ordained Deacon, 18th December, 1831, and Priest 29th Julv, 
1832. H e was V. of Ardfield, Ross, from 1842 to 1847; an"d 
V. of Drinagh, Cork, from 1847 to 1855. 

He died in December, 1866. 
His brother, H erbert Phillips Molesworth , was Curate of 

Kilbrogan, Bandon, fm nine years, till his death, on the 1st 
July, 1847, of the famine fever. There is a fine mural tablet 
to his memo ry in K'ilbrogan Church. 

1867. January. JAMES PERCIVAL MYLES, V. Fanlobbus, per mortem 
Molesworth. 

J. P. Myles was bam in Limerick on 21 st October, 1821. 
He was son of James Myles, by his wife, Sarah, dau. of 
William Taylor. Was educated at Revd. Gorman Gregg's 
School, Limerick. T.C.D .. B.A., 1847, and Div. T est. (2nd 
class); M.A. J872. H e was ordained Deacon, in 1847, by Bp. 
of Tuam j and Priest, in 1848, by Bp. of Kill aloe. He was 
Curate of Kilmoe, 1847-65 j R. V. Ki1coe and Cl ear, 1865-67. 

H e resigned Fanlobbus in 1872, and went to England, where 
he was Mi ssion Preacher in Btistol from 1872 to 1875, when 
he became Vicar cf St. Matthias-on-the-Weir, till, in 1887, he 
became Rector of West Kington, Wilts, 'I"hich post he held 
till not long before his death, which occurred at Clifton, on 
the 14th of July, 1902, in the 81st year of his age. 

He married, on lIth of May, 1848, Louisa, dau. of James 
McMullen, of Cork, and had issue six children. 

1872. GEORGE DEACON, R. Fanlobbus, vice Myles. 
Fanlobbus parish church, .St. Mary's~ Dunman.way, built 

on its ancient site, and consecrated jn 1822, ' has under­
gone much improvement in late years, and is now a beautiful 
one. There are several old mural tablets, brought from the :, 
former church when the present was built in 1821 j and it 
was subsequently enlarged by the addition of a transept. In 
the present Incumbent' s time a chancel has been added, and 
an organ chamber built. In the chancel is a h.andsome 3-light 
window, presented by the late O'Donovan, D .L. , as a me­
morial of his brother-in-law, William Lemuel Shuldham, and 
his wife. There are mural tablets to the Cox family and 
others. The old ceiling of the nave has been replaced by 
an open pitch-pine roof, besides various other improvements, 
which have cost mme than £ 1,000. 

A beautiful pulpit of Caen stone and marble has been 
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erected to' the memory of Harriet Lady Carbery by her hus­
band. There is a fine memorial window in the transept to 
Dr. H olmes, of Carrigmore, and his wife. A handsome brass 
lec tern has recently been dedicated to the memory of Mrs. \Vagner. 

The church population is about 470. 
There are about 50 dissenters. 
The parish is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is 

£ 180, and stipend of Rector, £320. H e is chaplain of 
L ul1manway W mkhouse. There is also a curate. 

Divine Service is held in Dunmanway Church on Sundays and 
festivals at 12 noon and 6 p.m. Holy Communion on second 
and fourth Sundays at 8.30 a.m.; on other S.undays, after 
Morning Prayer. There is Evening Service on Fridays at 
7-45 · 

There is a parochial school, having about 20 children on 
roll. 

T here is no glebe house or land. 
GeoTge Deacon, T.C.D., B.A., and Div. T est (1st class), 

1859. Ordained Deacon 1859, and Priest 1860, both a.t Co-rk. 
Curate of Kilcoe, 1859-63; of Kilgarriffe, 1863-6 5; of Carrig­
rohane, Cork, 1865-67; P . C. of Cullen, 1867-72. 

He married, and had issue several children 
H e died suddenly at Dunmanway on the 22nd of May, 1900, 

aged 70. 
1900. June 23. GEORGE WHITE HEALY, B.D. , R. F anlobbus, per 

mortem Deacon. 
J. Q. Conolly, junior, B.A., Curate. 
George White Healy, b . at Dublin '13th Deoember , 1862, 

son of Gemge Healy, J.p., 0'£ Glaslyn, Clontarf, Co. Dublip 
Educated at Hardwick School, Dublin. T.C.D. , B.A., 1881; 
M.A., 1886; B.D. , 1892; Div. Test. 1885. Ordained Deacon 
1886, at Dublin, and Priest, 1887, at D erry. Curate of Kells, 
dio,. Meath, 1886-7; Curate of St. Fin Barre's, Cork, and 
R esidentiary Preacher, 1887-99 ; R . Ballymoney, 1899 to 1900. 

He married, 2nd June, 1892, Annie Eva Martha, dau. of 
Revd. John Quarry Conolly, R. of Macroom, Co. Cork, and 
has issue-Eva Mary Dorothy; Geo. Ernest, b. 1895; Ailsa 
Ma r~aret; John Quarry, b. 1900. 

H ealy became R. Holy Trinity, Cork, in September, 1902. 
1902. November 15. EDWlN SANDYS DONOVAN, R. Fanlobbus, vice 

H ealy. 
Instituted by the Lord Bishop in DUlIDlanway· Church on 

27th. 
(For Donovan, see Timoleague, Ross.) 
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FRANKFIELD. 

This was formerly a chapelry of ease to St. Fin Barre's, but was 
made a separate district in charge of an Incumbent, under 
Trustees. 

1899. July. LIONEL ROTHWELL FLEMING, Incumbent. 
Incumbents have been:-
R. S. Gregg, from 1862 to 1865. 
R . U. L eslie, from 1865 to 1873. 
R. F . Clarke, from 1873 to 1883-
A. Wilson, from 1884 to 1890' 
J. A. James, from 1890 to 1892. 
A. J. Johnston, from 1892 to 1897. 
C. R. Longfield, from 1897 to 1899. 

The church population of' the district is about 85. 
Improvements in Frankfield Church have been-Vestry 

room turned into a chancel j old-fashioned' pulpit and reading 
desk removed j also old high, square pews j three stained 
glass windows in chancel, and two in nave j walnut lectern, etc. 

Divine Service is held on Sundays and chief festi,'als at 
11.30 a.m. Holy Communion on first, third, and fifth (if there 
be) Sundays. 

There is an endowment of £96 per annum. 
There is no glebe house or land. 
Lionel Rothwell Fleming, b. at Ballyrnoney Rectory, Balli­

neen, Co. Cork, loth August, 1872, eldest son of the Very 
Revd. Horace T ownsend Fleming, D.D ., Dean of Cloyne, by 
his wife, Emma Catherine, dau. of the late Richa,rd Rothwell, 
of Kells, Co. Meath j and grandson of Lionel John Fleming, 
of N ewcourt, near Skibbereen, Co. Cork. Educated at Corrig 
School, Kingstown, and Denstone ColI. , Uttoxoter, Stafford­
shire. Entered T.C.D., June, 1891, taking a high place. 
Obtained First H onours in Log. and Eth. and Eng. Lit. B.A. 
June, 1895 j Div. Test., December, 1895 j ~I.A., June, 1899. 
Ordained Deacon, December, 1896, and Priest, December, 1897, 
both at Peterborough. Assistant Curate of St. Margaret's, 
Leicester, December, 1896, to Easter, 1899. 

Silver plate belonging to Frankfield Chli rch consists of two 
chalices, two patens, and one flagon. All bear the date 1838, 
and have the inscription-I< Frankfield Church. Presented by 
Samuel Lane, of Frankfield." 




